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64B2-16.002 Probable Cause Determination.

(1) The determination as to whether probable cause exists to believe that a violation of the provisions of Chapter 456 or 460, F.S., or of the rules promulgated thereunder has occurred shall be made by a panel of two (2) Panel members appointed by the chairman, at least one of which shall be a current member of the Board. The chairman may appoint a former chiropractic Board member to serve on the probable cause panel in lieu of a current member of the Board.

(2) Reconsideration of probable cause in any given case shall be performed by the members of the panel who initially found probable cause in that case. Whenever the original panel members are not available current members of the panel shall hear the reconsideration.

Rulemaking Authority 460.405, 456.073(4) FS. Law Implemented 456.073(4) FS. History–New 1-10-80, Amended 3-15-81, Formerly 21D-16.02, Amended 4-26-93, Formerly 21D-16.002, 61F2-16.002, Amended 7-18-95, Formerly 59N-16.002, Amended 11-25-14.
64B2-16.003 Guidelines for the Disposition of Disciplinary Cases.

(1) Purpose. The purpose of this rule is to notify applicants and licensees of the ranges of penalties which will routinely be imposed unless the Boards find it necessary to deviate from the guidelines for the stated reasons given within this rule. The ranges of penalties provided below are based upon a single count violation of each provision listed; for multiple counts of the violated provisions or a combination of the violations the Board shall consider a higher penalty than that for a single, isolated violation. Each range includes the lowest and highest penalty and is inclusive of all penalties falling between, including continuing education (CE). For all persons subject to this rule, conditions of probation may be required following any period of suspension of license and probation will require compliance with conditions as set forth in subsection (4). In addition to any other discipline imposed, the Board shall assess the actual costs related to the investigation and prosecution of a case. 
(2) Violations and Range of Penalties. When the Board finds that an applicant or licensee whom it regulates pursuant to Chapter 460, F.S., has violated the below-listed provisions, it shall issue a final order imposing appropriate penalties, for each count, as set forth in Section 456.072(2), F.S., within the ranges recommended in the following disciplinary guidelines. The identification of offenses are descriptive only; the full language of each statutory provision cited must be considered in order to determine the conduct included. If the Board makes a finding of pecuniary benefit or self-gain related to the violation, then the Board shall require refund of fees billed and collected from the patient or a third party on behalf of the patient. In addition to or in lieu of any guideline penalties provided herein, if the violation is for fraud or making a false or fraudulent representation, the Board shall impose a fine of $10,000 per count or offense.

	STATUTORY OR RULE CITE AND BRIEF DESCRIPTOR
	FIRST OFFENSE
	SECOND OFFENSE
	THIRD OR SUBSEQUENT OFFENCE

	(a) Section 460.41, F.S.: failure to provide itemized patient billing.
	A fine of $1,000, six (6) months of probation with records monitoring and three (3) hours CE on Laws, Rules and Ethics.
	In addition to three (3) three hours CE on Laws, Rules and Ethics, from a minimum of a $1,000 fine and six (6) months’ probation with records monitoring up to a maximum of a $2,500 fine and six (6) month suspension followed by one (1) year probation with records monitoring.
	In addition to three (3) three hours CE on Laws, Rules and Ethics, from a minimum of a $2,000 fine, one (1) year suspension and two (2) years’ probation with records monitoring up to a maximum of a $5,000 fine and permanent revocation.

	(b) Section 460.411, F.S.: practice without active license or license fraudulently obtained.
	
	
	

	1. License fraudulently 
obtained.
	$10,000 fine and permanent revocation or denial of license (minimum and maximum same).
	
	

	2. Practice without active 
license.
	From a minimum of an administrative fine of $500 for each month of practice without an active license, up to a maximum of permanent revocation of license.
	From a minimum of an administrative fine of $1,000 for each month of practice without an active license, up to a maximum of permanent revocation of license.
	From a minimum of an administrative fine of $2,500 for each month of practice without an active license, up to a maximum of permanent revocation of license.

	(c) Section 460.411(1)(b), F.S. (use/attempted use of suspended/revoked license.)
	Permanent revocation or denial of license (minimum and maximum same); if fraud involved, addition of a $10,000.00 fine.
	
	

	(d) Section 460.411(2)(a), F.S. (selling/fraudulently obtaining diploma, license, record, registration.)
	Permanent revocation or denial of license (minimum and maximum same); if fraud involved, addition of a $10,000.00 fine.
	
	

	(e) Section 460.411(2)(b), F.S. (willfully false oath or affirmation.)
	Permanent revocation or denial of license (minimum and maximum same); if fraud involved, addition of a $10,000.00 fine.
	
	

	(f) Section 460.411(2)(c), F.S. (use of protected title without licensure.)
	Denial of license.
	
	

	(g) Section 460.411(2)(d), F.S. (knowing concealment of information on violation.)
	From a minimum of a $500 fine and six (6) months’ probation, up to a maximum of a $1,000 fine, one (1) year probation and three (3) hours CE on Laws, Rules and Ethics.
	From a minimum of a $1,000 fine and one (1) year suspension followed by two (2) years’ probation up to a maximum of a $2,500 fine, two (2) years suspension followed by three (3) years’ probation.
	From a minimum of a $2,500 fine, two (2) years suspension followed by three (3) years’ probation up to a maximum of permanent revocation.

	(h) Section 460.412 or 456.072(1)(v), F.S. (sexual misconduct.)
	From a minimum of a PRN referral for evaluation, one (1) year suspension followed by two (2) years’ probation including a chaperone, up to a maximum $7,500 fine and permanent revocation.
	$10,000 fine and permanent revocation.
	$10,000 fine and permanent revocation.

	(i) Section 460.413(1)(a) or 456.072(1)(h), F.S.: Obtain license by bribery, fraudulent misrepresentation or Department or Board Error.
	
	
	

	1. Obtain license by bribery.
	From a minimum $500 fine and two (2) years’ probation to a maximum of permanent revocation.  
	From a minimum $10,000 fine and one (1) year suspension to permanent revocation.
	Permanent revocation.



	2. Obtain license by fraudulent misrepresentations.
	From six months’ probation and a fine of $10,000 to a maximum of five (5) years suspension, passage of the SPEC Exam as condition of reinstatement, and a fine of $10,000.
	$10,000 fine and permanent revocation.
	

	3. Obtain license by Department or Board error.
	Suspension until appearance before Board, demonstration of entitlement to licensure and certification by Board, and a $500 fine.
	Same Penalty as first violation.
	Same Penalty as first violation.

	(j) Section 460.413(1)(b) or 456.072(1)(f), F.S.: having a license acted against in another state, territory, or country.
	$500 fine; if action in other state involved sexual misconduct, then permanent restriction on license requiring chaperone be present.
	Same Penalty as first violation.
	Same Penalty as first violation.

	(k) Section 460.413(1)(c) or 456.072(1)(c), F.S.: crime related to practice.
	
	
	

	1. Misdemeanor. 
	From a minimum $1,500 fine and six (6) months’ probation, up to a $3,000 fine and one (1) year suspension.
	From a minimum $3,000 fine, six (6) months suspension and one (1) year probation up to a $5,000 fine and eighteen (18) month suspension.
	From a minimum of $4,000 fine, two (2) year Permanent revocation.

	2. Felony. 
	From a minimum $5,000 fine and 1 year probation up to a maximum $7,500 fine and one (1) year suspension followed by two (2) years’ probation or permanent revocation.
	From a minimum $7,500 fine and two (2) years suspension followed by two (2) years’ probation, up to a maximum $10,000 fine and four (4) year suspension, passage of the SPEC exam as a condition of reinstatement of license to be followed by four (4) years’ probation.
	Permanent revocation.

	(l) Section 460.413(1)(d), F.S.: false/misleading advertising.
	From a minimum $1,000 fine and a letter of concern, up to a maximum $2,500 fine and 3 hours Laws, Rules and Ethics CE.
	In addition to three (3) three hours CE on Laws, Rules and Ethics, from a minimum $2,500 fine and one (1) year probation to a maximum $5,000 fine and three (3) months suspension.
	From a minimum of a $10,000 fine and one (1) year suspension to a maximum $10,000 fine and permanent revocation.

	(m) Section 460.413(1)(e) or 456.072(1)(t), F.S.: non-identifying advertisement.
	From a minimum $1,000 fine, up to a maximum of three (3) three hours CE on Laws, Rules and Ethics.
	In addition to three (3) three hours CE on Laws, Rules and Ethics, from a minimum $2,000 fine and one (1) year probation to a maximum $3,000 fine and three (3) years’ probation.
	In addition to three (3) three hours Laws Rules, and Ethics CE, from a minimum $4,000 fine up to a maximum $7,500 fine and one (1) year of suspension followed by three (3) years’ probation.

	(n) Section 460.413(1)(f), F.S.: phony name.
	In addition to two (2) hours CE on Ethics, from a minimum $1,000 fine up to a maximum $3,000 fine and six (6) months’ probation.
	In addition to two (2) hours CE on Ethics, from a minimum $3,500 fine and one (1) year probation, up to a maximum $5,000 fine and one (1) year suspension, followed by one (1) year probation.
	From a minimum $5,000 fine and six (6) months suspension up to a maximum $10,000 fine and permanent revocation.

	(o) Section 460.413(1)(g) or 456.072(1)(i), F.S.: failure to report another.
	In addition to three (3) three hours Laws, Rules and Ethics CE, from a minimum letter of concern and a $500 fine, up to a maximum $2,000 fine and six (6) months’ probation.
	In addition to three (3) three hours Laws, Rules and Ethics CE, from a minimum $2,000 fine up to a maximum $4,000 fine and six (6) month suspension.
	In addition to three (3) hours Laws, Rules and Ethics CE, from a minimum $3,000 fine and six (6) months suspension to a maximum $10,000 fine.

	(p) Section 460.413(1)(h) or 456.072(1)(j), F.S.: assisting unlicensed person to practice.
	In addition to three (3) three hours Laws, Rules and Ethics CE, from a minimum $5,000 fine and one (1) year suspension to $10,000 fine and five year suspension with passage of the SPEC Exam as a condition of reinstatement followed by three (3) years’ probation with monitoring.
	$10,000 fine and permanent revocation.
	$10,000 fine and permanent revocation.

	(q) Section 460.413(1)(i) or 456.072(1)(k), F.S.: failure to perform statutory or legal obligation.
	In addition to three (3) three hours Laws, Rules and Ethics CE, from a minimum $1,000 fine and a letter of concern, up to a maximum $3,000 fine and one (1) year suspension followed by two (2) years’ probation.
	From a minimum three (3) three hours Laws, Rules and Ethics CE, $2,500 fine and one (1) year probation up to a maximum $5,000 fine, 2 year suspension, SPEC Exam as condition of reinstatement followed by 2 years’ probation or permanent revocation.
	From a minimum $10,000 fine and 1 year suspension up to a maximum $10,000 fine and permanent revocation.

	1. Negligent filing of false report.
	From a minimum $2,000 fine, up to a maximum $5,000 fine, two (2) hours Ethics and three (3) hours Laws and Rules CE and one (1) year probation with records monitoring.
	From a minimum $3,000 fine and a reprimand to a maximum $5,000 fine, two (2) hours Ethics and three (3) hours Laws and Rules CE and two (2) year suspension.
	From a minimum $5,000 fine up to a maximum $10,000 fine and permanent revocation.

	2. Willful filing of false report, impeding, or inducing another to file false report.
	From a minimum $5,000 fine  and one (1) year suspension, followed by one (1) year probation with records monitoring, up to a maximum of 1 year suspension, SPEC Exam as condition of license reinstatement, followed by 3 years’ probation.
	From a minimum $5,000 fine and three (3) year suspension with two (2) hours Ethics and three (3) hours Laws and Rules CE and passage of the SPEC Exam as conditions of licensure reinstatement followed by 3 years’ probation with records monitoring up to a maximum $7,500 fine and permanent revocation.
	From a minimum $10,000 fine and five (5) year suspension up to a maximum $10,000 fine and permanent revocation.

	(r) Section 460.413(1)(r), F.S.: Gross or repeated malpractice or failure to practice at acceptable level of reasonably prudent care, skill or treatment.
	
	
	

	1. Gross malpractice.
	From a minimum $2,500 fine, up to a maximum $5,000 fine and permanent revocation.
	From a minimum $5,000 fine and one (1) year suspension followed by one (1) year probation up to a maximum $7,500 fine, three (3) year suspension followed by three (3) year probation or permanent revocation.
	From a minimum $10,000 fine, two (2) years suspension and two (2) years’ probation up to a maximum $10,000 fine and permanent revocation.

	2. Repeated malpractice.
	From a minimum $1,000 fine, three (3) hours Laws, Rules and Ethics CE, and one (1) year suspension followed by one (1) year probation up to a maximum $6,000 fine, two (2) year suspension, three (3) hours Laws, Rules and Ethics CE and passage of the SPEC Exam as conditions of license reinstatement, followed by two (2) year probation with monitoring or permanent revocation.
	From a minimum $5,000 fine, two (2) year suspension and two (2) year probation up to a maximum $10,000 fine, four (4) year suspension, three (3) hours Laws, Rules and Ethics CE and passage of the SPEC Exam as conditions of license reinstatement, followed by four (4) years’ probation with monitoring or permanent revocation.
	$10,000 fine and permanent revocation (minimum and maximum same).

	3. Unacceptable level of care, skill, and treatment.
	For a first offense, from a minimum $3,000 fine, 1 year suspension followed by two (2) years’ probation up to a maximum $6,000 fine, 5 year suspension, SPEC Exam as condition of licensure reinstatement, followed by 2 year probation with monitoring.
	From a minimum $5,000 fine and 2 year suspension, passage of SPEC Exam as condition of license renewal, followed by two (2) years’ probation with monitoring up to a maximum $8,000 fine and three (3) year suspension, six (6) hours Documentation and Coding CE and passage of the SPEC Exam as a condition of license reinstatement, followed by three (3) years’ probation with monitoring or permanent revocation.
	For a third offense, from a minimum $7,500 fine, one (1) year suspension then two (2) years, probation up to a maximum $10,000 fine and/or permanent revocation.

	(s) Section 460.413(1)(k) or 456.072(1)(m), F.S.: misrepresentations/trick or scheme.
	In addition to two (2) hours Ethics CE, from a minimum $1,000 fine and one (1) year probation, up to a maximum $3,000 fine, one (1) year suspension, followed by two (2) years’ probation.
	In addition to two (2) hours Ethics CE, from a $5,000 fine and two (2) years suspension with passage of the SPEC Exam as a condition of license reinstatement followed by two (2) years’ probation up to a maximum $7,500 fine and permanent revocation.
	Permanent Revocation.

	(t) Section 460.413(1)(l) or 456.072(1)(y), F.S.: soliciting patients or commercial solicitation from accident report information.
	From a minimum $3,000 fine and two (2) years’ probation, up to a maximum $6,000 fine, two (2) year suspension followed by two (2) year probation and two (2) hours Ethics and three (3) hours Laws and Rules CE. 
	From a minimum $5,000 fine and one year suspension followed by two (2) years’ probation, up to a maximum $10,000 fine, and permanent revocation.
	Permanent Revocation.

	(u) Section 460.413(1)(m), F.S.: medical recordkeeping.
	In addition to three (3) hours Laws, Rules and Ethics and six (6) hours Documentation and Coding CE, from a minimum $1,000 fine and one (1) year probation with records monitoring, up to a maximum $3,000 fine, six (6) months suspension, followed by one (1) year probation with records monitoring.
	From a minimum of $2,500 fine and one (1) year suspension followed by one (1) year probation up to a maximum $10,000 fine, one (1) year suspension followed by two (2) years’ probation.
	From a minimum $7,500 fine and two (2) years suspension, followed by two (2) years’ probation with records monitoring up to a maximum $10,000 fine and permanent revocation.

	(v) Section 460.413(1)(n) or 456.072(1)(n), F.S.: exploit patient for financial gain.
	In addition to three (3) hours Laws and Rules and two (2) hours Ethics CE, from a minimum $2,000 fine and one (1) year probation, up to a maximum $4,000 fine and two (2) year suspension followed by two (2) years’ probation of license.
	In addition to three (3) hours Laws and Rules and two (2) hours Ethics CE from a $3,000 fine, one (1) year suspension with passage of the SPEC Exam as a condition of reinstatement followed by two (2) year probation with monitoring up to a maximum $7,500 fine or permanent revocation.
	From a minimum $7,500 fine, two (2) years suspension followed by two (2) years’ probation up to a maximum $10,000 fine and permanent revocation.

	(w) Section 460.413(1)(o), F.S.: unauthorized services.
	From a minimum $1,000 fine and one (1) year probation with monitoring, up to a maximum $3,000 fine and two (2) years’ probation with monitoring.
	From a minimum $3,000 fine and two (2) years’ probation with monitoring, up to a maximum $5,000 fine, two (2) years suspension with passage of the SPEC Exam as a condition of license reinstatement followed by two (2) years’ probation with monitoring or permanent revocation.
	For a third offense, from a minimum $5,000 fine, two (2) year suspension with passage of the SPEC Exam as a condition of license reinstatement followed by two (2) years’ probation with monitoring, up to a maximum $10,000 fine and permanent revocation.

	(x) Section 460.413(1)(p), F.S.: dispensing drugs/performing surgery.
	In addition to three (3) hours Laws and Rules and two (2) hours Ethics CE, from a minimum fine of $5,000 and one year of probation, up to a maximum fine of $10,000 and five (5) year suspension with passage of the SPEC Exam as a condition of license reinstatement followed by two (2) years’ probation.
	$10,000 fine and permanent revocation.
	$10,000 fine and permanent revocation.

	(y) Section 460.413(1)(q) or 456.072(1)(z), F.S.: unable to practice with reasonable skill and safety.
	From a minimum $1,000 fine, three (3) years’ probation and referral for a PRN evaluation, up to a maximum of one (1) year suspension, with a recommendation of ability to practice with reasonable skill and safety to patients as a condition of reinstatement, followed by three (3) years’ probation.
	From a $3,500 fine, referral for a PRN evaluation, and one (1) year suspension with a recommendation of ability to practice with reasonable skill and safety to patients as a condition of reinstatement, followed by four (4) years’ probation to a maximum of three (3) year suspension with a recommendation of ability to practice with reasonable skill and safety to patients and passage of the SPEC Exam as conditions of reinstatement, and a $7,500 fine or permanent revocation.
	From a minimum $5,000 fine, suspension until PRN referral and evaluation followed by five (5) years’ probation up to a maximum $10,000 fine and permanent revocation.

	(z) Section 460.413(1)(t) or 456.072(1)(o), F.S.: practicing beyond scope or competency.
	In addition to three (3) three hours Laws, Rules and Ethics CE, from a minimum $1,000 fine and a letter of concern, up to a maximum $3,000 fine and one (1) year suspension followed by two (2) years’ probation.
	From a minimum three (3) three hours Laws, Rules and Ethics CE, $2,500 fine and one (1) year probation up to a maximum $5,000 fine, 2 year suspension, SPEC Exam as condition of reinstatement followed by 2 years’ probation or permanent revocation.
	From a minimum $10,000 fine and 1 year suspension up to a maximum $10,000 fine and permanent revocation.

	(aa) Section 460.413(1)(s), F.S.: experimentation on human subjects without consent.
	In addition to three (3) hours Laws and Rules and two (2) hours Ethics CE, from a $2,000 fine and five (5) years’ probation, up to a maximum of five (5) year suspension, passage of the SPEC Exam as condition of reinstatement, followed by two (2) years’ probation. 
	In addition to three (3) hours Laws and Rules and two (2) hours Ethics CE, from a minimum $5,000 fine, one (1) year suspension and five (5) years’ probation up to permanent revocation.
	$10,000 fine and permanent revocation.

	(bb) Section 460.413(1)(t) or 456.072(1)(o), F.S.: practicing beyond the scope permitted or competent to perform.
	In addition to three (3) hours Laws, Rules and Ethics CE, a minimum $2,500 fine and one (1) year probation with monitoring, up to a maximum two (2) year suspension followed by two (2) years’ probation with monitoring and a $5,000 fine.
	In addition to three (3) hours Laws and Rules and two (2) hours Ethics CE, from a minimum $5,000 fine and two (2) year suspension followed by two (2) years’ probation up to a maximum $7,500 fine, four (4) year suspension, passage of the SPEC Exam as condition of license reinstatement, followed by four (4) year probation.
	From a minimum $10,000 fine up to a maximum $10,000 fine and permanent revocation.

	(cc) Section 460.413(1)(u) or 456.072(1)(p), F.S.: delegating responsibilities to unqualified person.
	In addition to three (3) hours Laws and Rules and two (2) hours Ethics CE, $1,000 fine and a Letter of Concern.
	In addition to three (3) hours Laws and Rules and two (2) hours Ethics CE, from a minimum $5,000 fine, one (1) year suspension followed by two (2) years’ probation with monitoring to a maximum of a $7,500.
	From a minimum $10,000 fine up to a maximum $10,000 fine and permanent revocation.

	(dd) Section 460.413(1)(v) or 456.072(1)(q), F.S.: violating any lawfully issued order or subpoena.
	From a minimum $1,000 fine and a letter of concern, up to a maximum three (3) hours Laws, Rules and Ethics CE.
	In addition to three (3) hours Laws and Rules and two (2) hours Ethics CE, from a minimum $3,000 fine and/or two (2) years of probation up to a maximum $5,000 fine or one (1) year suspension.
	From a minimum $7,500 fine and six (6) month suspension followed by probation up to a maximum $10,000 fine and permanent revocation.

	(ee) Section 460.413(1)(w), F.S.: conspiring or committing an act to prevent a licensee from advertising.
	From a minimum $1,000 fine to a maximum of Letter of Concern and two (2) hours Ethics and Three (3) hours Laws and Rules CE.
	From a minimum $3,000 fine and six (6) months suspension up to a maximum $5,000 fine, one (1) year suspension, two (2) hours Ethics and Three (3) hours Laws and Rules CE as conditions of reinstatement of license.
	From a minimum $7,500 fine and two (2) year suspension followed by probation up to a maximum $10,000 fine and/or permanent revocation.

	(ff) Section 460.413(1)(x) or 456.072(1)(ee), F.S.: submitting claims for treatment not provided.
	From a minimum $3,000 fine and two (2) year probation, up to a maximum $5,000 fine or one (1) year suspension, three (3) hours Laws and Rules, two (2) hours Ethics and six (6) hours Documentation and Coding CE as conditions of licensure reinstatement, followed by one (1) year probation with records monitoring. 
	From a minimum $5,000 fine and one (1) year suspension followed by two (2) years’ probation with monitoring to a maximum $7,500 fine and five (5) year suspension, SPEC Exam as condition of licensure reinstatement, followed by five (5) years’ probation with monitoring.
	$10,000 fine and permanent revocation.

	(gg) Section 460.413(1)(y), F.S.: commingling or conversion of patient funds and financial recordkeeping.
	In addition to three (3) hours Laws and Rules CE, from a minimum $2,000 fine and one (1) year probation, up to a maximum $4,000 fine, one (1) year suspension followed by one (1) year probation with records monitoring and three (3) hours Laws and Rules and two (2) hours Ethics CE.
	In addition to three (3) hours Laws and Rules and two (2) hours Documentation and Coding CE, from a minimum $5,000 fine and one (1) year suspension followed by one (1) year probation with records monitoring to a maximum of $7,500 fine, five (5) year suspension, passage of the SPEC Exam as condition of reinstatement of license, followed by five (5) years’ probation with records monitoring.
	From a minimum $7,500 fine and one (1) year suspension, followed by two (2) years’ probation with records monitoring up to a maximum $10,000 fine and permanent revocation.

	(hh) Section 460.413(1)(z), F.S.: offering or accepting payment by assignment if it appears to eliminate requirement for insured to pay deductible.
	From minimum $1,000 fine and a letter of concern up to a maximum $3,000 fine and three (3) hours Laws, Rules and Ethics CE.
	From a minimum $3,000 fine and one (1) year probation with monitoring to a maximum $5,000 fine and one (1) year suspension followed by one (1) probation with records monitoring and three (3) hours Laws, Rules and Ethics CE.
	From a minimum of a $10,000 fine up to a $10,000 fine and permanent revocation.

	(ii) Section 460.413(1)(aa), F.S.: failure to provide insured with copy of claim (citation offense).
	From a minimum $1,000 fine and Letter of Concern up to a maximum of two (2) hours Ethics and Three (3) hours Laws and Rules CE.
	From a minimum $3,000 fine and one (1) year probation to a maximum $4,000 fine, two (2) hours Ethics and Three (3) hours Laws and Rules CE and 3 years suspension, SPEC Exam as condition of license reinstatement, followed by probation with monitoring.
	From a minimum $10,000 fine up to a maximum $10,000 fine and permanent revocation.

	(jj) Section 460.413(1)(bb), F.S.: advertised fee different from that submitted to payors.
	From a minimum $2,000 fine and one (1) year probation with monitoring, to a maximum $5,000 fine and two (2) years’ probation with records monitoring and three (3) hours Laws and Rules CE. 
	From a minimum of passage of the SPEC Exam or a $3,500 fine and one (1) year suspension followed by one (1) year probation up to a maximum $5,000 fine and two (2) year suspension, passage of the SPEC Exam as condition of license reinstatement, followed by two (2) year probation with records monitoring and three (3) hours Laws and Rules and two (2) hours Ethics CE.
	In addition to three (3) hours Laws and Rules and two (2) hours Ethics CE, From a minimum $7,500 fine, two (2) year suspension followed by two (2) year probation with monitoring, passage of the SPEC Exam as a condition of licensure reinstatement, up to a maximum $10,000 fine, five (5) year suspension, passage of the SPEC Exam and six (6) hours Documentation and Coding CE as conditions of licensure reinstatement, followed by five (5) years’ probation with monitoring or permanent revocation.

	(kk) Sections 460.413(1)(cc), 456.062, F.S.: failure of advertisement to state usual fee when offers free or discount services (citation offense).
	From a minimum $1,000 fine, Letter of Concern and three hours Laws, Rules and Ethics CE. 
	From a minimum $2,000 fine and Letter of Concern up to one (1) year probation with monitoring to approve all advertising and three (3) hours Laws, Rules and Ethics CE.
	$5,000 fine, one (1) year suspension followed by one (1) year probation with monitoring to approve all advertising and three (3) hours Laws, Rules and Ethics CE. 

	(ll) Section 460.413(1)(dd), F.S.: using acupuncture without certification.
	$3,000 fine and one (1) year probation, Letter of Concern, and three (3) hours Laws, Rules and Ethics CE.
	From a minimum of a $7,500 fine and 3 year suspension, passage of the SPEC Exam as a condition of license reinstatement, followed by two (2) years’ probation up to a maximum of a $7,500 fine, three (3) hours Laws, Rules and Ethics CE and three (3) year suspension followed by three (3) year probation or permanent revocation of acupuncture certification.
	From a minimum of a $10,000 fine up to a maximum $10,000 fine and permanent revocation.

	(mm) Section 460.413(1)(ee), F.S.: failure to report violation in the facility.
	From a minimum of a letter of concern and a $1,000 fine up to a maximum Letter of Concern and three (3) hours Laws, Rules and Ethics CE.
	From a minimum of a $2,000 fine and one (1) year probation up to a maximum $3,000 fine, three (3) hours Laws, Rules and Ethics CE, and two (2) year probation.
	From a minimum $5,000 fine and two (2) year suspension followed by two (2) year probation up to a maximum $7,500 fine, passage of the SPEC Exam and three (3) hours Laws and Rules and two (2) hours Ethics CE.

	(nn) Section 460.413(1)(ff), 456.072(1)(b), or 456.072(1)(dd), F.S.: violating Chapters 460, 456, F.S., or any Board rules.
	$1,000 fine and a letter of concern.
	From a minimum $5,000 fine and two (2) years’ probation up to a maximum $10,000 fine and permanent revocation of license.
	$10,000 fine and permanent revocation.

	(oo) Section 456.082, F.S.: disclosure of confidential information.
	Letter of Concern and three Hours Laws and Rules and three hours Ethics CE. 
	From a minimum $4,000 fine and one (1) year suspension followed by one (1) year probation to three (3) year suspension, SPEC Exam and three (3) hours Laws and Rules and three (3) hours Ethics as conditions of licensure reinstatement followed by three (3) year probation.
	From a minimum $7,500 fine and one (1) year suspension followed by two (2) years’ probation up to a maximum $10,000 fine and permanent revocation.

	(pp) Section 456.057(6), F.S.: timely and appropriate release of medical records.
	In addition to three (3) hours Laws, Rules and Ethics CE, from a minimum $1,000 fine and a letter of concern up to a maximum $3,000 fine and one (1) year of probation. 
	In addition to three (3) hours Laws, Rules and Ethics CE, from a minimum $2,500 fine and one (1) year probation to a maximum $5,000 fine and six (6) month suspension followed by two (2) years’ probation.
	From a minimum $7,500 fine and one (1) year suspension followed by two (2) years’ probation up to a maximum $10,000 fine and permanent revocation.

	(qq) Section 456.072(1)(a), F.S.: misleading, deceptive, or fraudulent representations.
	From a minimum of one (1) year suspension and a fine of $10,000 per count or offense up to a maximum of five (5) year suspension, three (3) hours Laws, Rules and Ethics CE and a fine of $10,000 per count or offense.
	From a fine of $10,000 per count or offense and 5 year suspension, SPEC Exam as condition of licensure reinstatement, up to a maximum of permanent revocation.
	From a minimum fine of $10,000 per count or offense and five (5) year suspension to a $10,000 fine and permanent revocation.

	(rr) Section 456.072(1)(d), F.S.: improper usage of laser device.
	In addition to passage of a training/competency course for the device type, from a minimum $1,000 fine and one (1) year probation up to a maximum $3,000 fine and two (2) year suspension followed by two (2) years’ probation.
	In addition to passage of a training/competency course for the device type, from a minimum $3,000 fine and one (1) year suspension followed by one (1) year probation up to a maximum $6,000 fine and five (5) year suspension, SPEC Exam as condition of licensure reinstatement, followed by five (5) years’ probation.
	From a minimum $10,000 fine, up to a maximum $10,000 fine and permanent revocation.

	(ss) Section 456.072(1)(g), F.S.: found liable in civil proceeding for knowingly filing a false report or complaint against another licensee with DOH.
	From a minimum $2,000 fine to a maximum $3,000 fine, a letter of concern and two (2) hours Ethics CE.
	From a minimum of 2 hours Ethics CE, $3,000 fine and one (1) year suspension followed by one (1) year probation to a maximum $5,000 fine and three (3) year suspension, SPEC Exam and two (2) hours Ethics CE as conditions of licensure reinstatement, followed by three (3) years’ probation.
	From a minimum $10,000 fine up to a maximum $10,000 fine and permanent revocation.

	(tt) Section 456.072(1)(e), F.S.: failure to comply with HIV/AIDS course requirements.
	In addition to three (3) hours Laws, Rules and Ethics CE, a fine of $1,000 and a letter of concern.
	In addition to three (3) hours Laws, Rules and Ethics CE, from a minimum fine of $2,500 up to a maximum of one (1) year probation.
	A fine of $10,000 and permanent revocation.

	(uu) Section 456.072(1)(r), F.S.: improper interference with investigation, inspection, or discipline.
	From a minimum letter of concern, $1,000 fine and one (1) year of probation up to a maximum $3,000 fine and two (2) hours Ethics CE. 
	In addition to two (2) hours Ethics CE, from a minimum $5,000 fine and three (3) year suspension, SPEC Exam as condition of license reinstatement, followed by one (1) year probation up to a maximum $5,000 fine or permanent revocation.
	From a minimum $5,000 fine up to a maximum $10,000 fine and permanent revocation.

	(vv) Section 456.072(1)(w), F.S.: profiling and credentialing violations. 
	Three hours Laws, Rules and Ethics CE and a letter of concern.
	In addition to three hours Laws, Rules and Ethics CE, from a minimum $2,000 fine and one (1) year probation up to a maximum $3,000 fine and two (2) years’ probation.
	From a minimum $5,000 up to a maximum $10,000 fine and permanent revocation.

	(ww) Section 456.072(1)(x), F.S.: failure to comply with 30-day notification of convictions and nolo pleas.
	$1,000 fine and a letter of concern and three (3) hours Laws, Rules and Ethics CE. 
	From a minimum of a reprimand and a $5,000 fine up to one (1) year suspension followed by probation and a $10,000 fine.
	From a minimum $10,000 fine up to a maximum $10,000 fine and permanent revocation.

	(xx) Section 456.072(1)(aa), F.S.: testing positive on drug screening.
	Suspension of license until PRN evaluation and recommendation of ability to practice with reasonable skill and safety to patients; if contract recommended, entry into contract and from a minimum $1,000 fine and one (1) year suspension and two (2) years’ probation and referral for a PRN evaluation, up to a maximum of one (1) year suspension followed by three (3) years’ probation with monitoring.
	From a $2,500 fine and suspension until PRN referral and evaluation followed by probation to a $10,000 fine and permanent revocation.
	From a $5,000 fine, suspension until PRN referral and evaluation and five (5) years’ probation up to a maximum $10,000 fine and permanent revocation.

	(yy) Section 456.072(1)(bb), F.S.: wrong patient, wrong-site, or wrong or unnecessary procedure.
	In addition to six (6) hours CE in Documentation and Coding, from a minimum $1,000 fine and/or a reprimand, up to a maximum $3,000 fine and one (1) year suspension followed by one (1) year probation with monitoring.
	In addition to six (6) hours CE in Documentation and Coding, from a minimum $3,000 fine and two (2) year suspension followed by two (2) year probation with monitoring up to a maximum $6,000 fine, five (5) year suspension, passage of the SPEC Exam as condition of reinstatement, followed by five (5) year probation with monitoring.
	From a minimum $10,000 fine and one (1) year probation up to a maximum $10,000 fine and permanent revocation.

	(zz) Section 456.039(3), F.S.: failing to update information pursuant to Section 456.039(1), F.S., in writing within 45 days after the occurrence of an event or attainment of a status required to be reported.
	In addition to three (3) hours Laws, Rules and Ethics CE, from a minimum $1,000 fine to a maximum of letter of concern and three (3) hours Laws, Rules and Ethics CE.
	In addition to three (3) hours Laws, Rules and Ethics CE, from a minimum of one (1) year probation to maximum of $3,500 fine and three (3) hours Laws, Rules and Ethics CE. 
	$10,000 fine and permanent revocation.

	(aaa) Section 456.072(1)(hh), F.S.: for being terminated from a treatment program for impaired practitioners, which is overseen by an impaired practitioner consultant as described in Section 456.076, F.S., for failure to comply, without good cause, with the terms of the monitoring or treatment contract entered into by the licensee, or for not successfully completing any drug treatment or alcohol treatment program.
	From a minimum of suspension until compliant with contract and recommendation of ability to practice with reasonable skill and safety to patients to $1,000 fine and probation with monitoring. 
	From a minimum of suspension until compliant with contract and recommendation of ability to practice with reasonable skill and safety to patients to $3,000 or permanent restriction on practice.
	From a minimum of five (5) year suspension, followed by permanent restriction on practice to a fine of $10,000 and permanent revocation.

	(bbb) Section 456.072(1)(ii), F.S.: for being convicted of or entering a plea of guilty or nolo contendere to, any misdemeanor or felony, regardless of adjudication, under 18 U.S.C. s. 669, ss. 285-287, s. 371, s. 1001, s. 1035, s. 1341, s. 1343, s. 1347, s. 1349, or s. 1518, or 42 U.S.C. ss. 1320a-7b, relating to Medicaid program.
	Permanent revocation and a fine of $10,000.
	
	

	(ccc) Section 456.072(1)(jj), F.S.: for failing to remit the sum owed to state for an overpayment from Medicaid program pursuant to a final order, judgment, or stipulation or settlement.
	From a minimum of a letter of concern to one (1) year probation and a $1,000 fine to a maximum of a reprimand, $2,500 fine and two (2) year suspension, three (3) hours Laws, Rules and Ethics and six (6) hours Documentation and Coding CE as conditions of reinstatement.
	From a minimum of a reprimand, $3,000 fine and one (1) year suspension followed by one (1) year probation up to a maximum of $6,000 fine, three (3) year suspension followed by three (3) years’ probation, passage of the SPEC Exam, three (3) hours Laws, Rules and Ethics and six (6) hours Documentation and Coding CE as conditions of license reinstatement or permanent revocation.
	From a minimum of a $5,000 fine and one (1) year suspension, to a maximum $10,000 fine and permanent revocation.

	(ddd) Section 456.072(1)(kk), F.S.: for being terminated from the state Medicaid program pursuant to Section 409.913, F.S., any other state Medicaid program, or the federal Medicare program, unless eligibility to participate in the program from which the practitioner was terminated has been restored. 
	From a minimum of a letter of concern and $1,000 fine to maximum of a reprimand, $2,000 fine, and two (2) hours Ethics CE.
	From a minimum of a reprimand, $3,000 fine and one (1) year suspension followed by one (1) year probation to a maximum $5,000 fine and two (2) hours Ethics CE. 
	From a minimum of a $5,000 fine and one (1) year suspension to a maximum $10,000 fine and permanent revocation.

	(eee) Section 456.072(1)(ll), F.S.: for being convicted of, or entering a plea of guilty or nolo contendere to, any misdemeanor or felony, regardless of adjudication, a crime in any jurisdiction which relates to health care fraud.
	A fine of $10,000 and Permanent revocation or denial of license (minimum and maximum same).
	
	

	(fff) Section 456.072(1)(nn), F.S.: violating any provisions of Section 790.338, F.S., relating to medical privacy concerning firearms.
	$1,000 fine and letter of concern.
	From a minimum $5,000 fine, six (6) month suspension followed by one (1) year probation up to two (2) year suspension followed by two (2) year probation.
	From a minimum $10,000 fine to a maximum $10,000 fine and permanent revocation.

	(ggg) Section 456.072(1)(oo), F.S.: willfully failing to comply with Section 627.64194 or 641.513, F.S. as to indicate a business practice – regarding provision of emergency services and insurance billing.
	From a minimum $1,000 fine and one (1) year of probation, up to a maximum $3,000 fine.
	From a minimum $5,000 fine and six (6) month suspension followed by two (2) years of probation to a maximum $10,000 fine and or permanent revocation.
	$10,000 fine and permanent revocation.

	(hhh) Providing false information regarding Emotional Support Animal without personal knowledge.

(Section 456.072(1)(pp), F.S.)
	Written reprimand to $500 fine and three (3) hours Laws, Rules and Ethics CE.
	Minimum of reprimand, $500 fine and 3 hours Laws, Rules and Ethics CE to a maximum of $1,000 fine, one (1) year suspension followed by two (2) years’ probation with records review.
	Minimum of Reprimand, $1,000 fine, 3 hours Laws, Rules and Ethics CE and two years’ probation with records monitoring to a maximum of $10,000 fine and one year suspension followed by five (5) years of probation with records review.

	(iii) Intentionally implanting a patient with an embryo or human reproductive material without consent as to donor.
(Section 456.072(1)(qq), F.S.)
	Minimum of reprimand, $1,000 fine, 3 hours Laws and Rules and 3 hours Ethics and Boundaries CE to a maximum of $7,500 fine, one (1) year suspension followed by two (2) years’ probation.
	Minimum of $5,000 fine, six (6) month suspension followed by two (2) years’ probation, passage of national Ethics and Boundaries Exam as condition of reinstatement, to a maximum of $10,000 fine and permanent revocation of license.
	$10,000 fine and permanent revocation of license.

	(jjj) Failure to comply with Section 456.51, F.S.: regarding consent for Pelvic Exams.
	Written reprimand to $500 fine.
	Minimum of reprimand, $500 fine and 3 hours Laws and Rule Laws, Rules and Ethics s CE to a maximum of $1,000 fine, one (1) year suspension followed by two (2) years’ probation with records review and chaperone.
	Minimum of Reprimand, $1,000 fine, 3 hours Laws, Rules and Ethics CE and passage of national Ethics and Boundaries Exam to a maximum of $10,000 fine and permanent revocation.

	(kkk) Failure to comply with parental consent requirements of Section 1014.06, F.S. 

(Section 456.072(1)(rr), F.S.)
	From a letter of concern and an administrative fine of $1,000.00 to six (6) month probation and a $2,500 fine, or denial of licensure.
	From a reprimand and an administrative fine of $2,500.00 to one (1) year probation and a $5,000.00 fine, or denial of licensure.
	From six (6) month probation and an administrate fine of $5,000 to Revocation and an administrative fine of $5,000 to $10,000, or denial of licensure.

	(lll) Conviction of or plea to crimes enumerated in Section 456.074(5), F.S. or similar offense in another jurisdiction.
(Section 456.072(1)(ss), F.S.)
	Revocation and administrative fine of $1,000 to $5,000, or denial of licensure.
	Revocation and administrative fine of $5,000 to $10,000, or denial of licensure.
	Revocation and administrative fine of $10,000, or denial of licensure.


(3) The Board may take into consideration the following factors in determining the appropriate disciplinary action to be imposed and in going outside of the disciplinary guidelines:

(a) The danger to the public;

(b) The number of unrelated and distinct offenses;

(c) The actual damage, physical or otherwise, to the patient(s);

(d) The length of time since the date of the last violation(s);

(e) The length of time the licensee has practiced his or her profession;

(f) Prior discipline imposed upon the licensee;

(g) The deterrent effect of the penalty imposed;

(h) The effect of the penalty upon the licensee’s livelihood;

(i) Rehabilitation efforts of the licensee including remorse, restitution, and corrective actions;

(j) Efforts of the licensee to correct or stop violations or failure of the licensee to correct or stop violations;

(k) Related violations against the licensee in another state, including findings of guilt or innocence, penalties imposed and penalties served;

(l) The actual negligence of the licensee pertaining to any violation.

(4) When the Board orders probation, that probation will automatically include monitoring by either the Department of Health Compliance Management Unit and/or a Board-approved Monitor. If the type of monitor is not specified, monitoring shall be by the DOH/CMU. Unless otherwise specified, if monitoring by a Board-approved Monitor is ordered, such monitoring shall be at random intervals as chosen by the Monitor, and shall be either with or without advance notice to the Respondent, at the discretion of the Monitor. In addition to monitoring any or all of the following conditions may be imposed as terms of probation:

(a) Restitution of the cost of probation;

(b) Restitution to patient(s) or third-party payor(s);

(c) Payment of fine(s);

(d) Consent to Department access to all business records;

(e) Fulfilling continuing education requirements;

(f) Consent to indirect or direct supervision of practice by Board-approved sponsor;

(g) Consent to restrictions on advertising;

(h) Consent to restriction of practice, including hours, days or type of practice;

(i) Consent to disallowance of sponsorship of trainees;

(j) Submission of reports by licensee and consent to submission of reports by sponsor and/or employer and/or helping professional;

(k) Consent to urine and blood testing;

(l) Fulfilling community service requirement(s);

(m) Successful completion of the Special Purposes Examination (SPEC) examination of the National Board of Chiropractic Examiners.
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64B2-16.0035 Standard Terms Applicable to Disciplinary Orders.

Unless otherwise approved by the Board or its designee, or addressed by the Final Order, the following are the terms applicable to all Final Orders rendered by the Board in disciplinary proceedings.

(1) Payment of Fines and Costs. All fines and costs shall be paid by check or money order made payable to the Board and sent to DOH/Compliance Management Unit, Bin #C76, P.O. Box 6320, Tallahassee, Florida 32314-6320, within thirty (30) days of the filing of the Order unless another date is negotiated between the Department and the Respondent, and approved by the Board.

(2) Addresses. Respondent must keep current residence and practice addresses on file with the Board. Respondent shall notify the Compliance Office, in writing, within ten (10) days of any changes of those addresses. Furthermore, if the Respondent’s license is on probation, the Respondent shall notify the Compliance Office within ten (10) days in the event that Respondent leaves the active practice of chiropractic medicine in Florida.

(3) Compliance Address. All reports, correspondence and inquiries shall be sent to: DOH, Compliance Management Unit, Bin #C76, 4052 Bald Cypress Way, Tallahassee, Florida 32399-3251, Attn: Chiropractic Medicine Compliance Officer.

(4) Continuing Education. 

(a) Continuing education imposed by Board Order shall be in addition to those hours required for biennial renewal of licensure. The Board confers authority on the Compliance Committee Chair (“Chair”) to approve or disapprove continuing education courses. The Respondent is required to submit a course syllabus for all continuing education courses Respondent seeks to have approved. The courses shall be live in-person format; online/virtual live courses will not be approved.

(b) The time frame for completing such continuing education is twelve (12) months from the date the Order is filed;

(5) PRN Conditions. Should the Board determine that a contract by the Professionals Resource Network (PRN) is appropriate, Respondent shall participate and comply with the PRN contract.

(a) Respondent shall enter into a with PRN, shall comply with all its terms, and shall be responsible for assuring that the medical director of PRN sends the Compliance Office a copy of said contract.

(b) Respondent shall execute a release that authorizes PRN to release information and medical records (including psychiatric records and records relating to treatment for drug dependence and alcoholism) to the Board of Chiropractic Medicine as needed to monitor the progress of Respondent in the PRN program.

(c) Respondent shall authorize the director of PRN to report to the Board of Chiropractic Medicine any problems that may occur with Respondent and any violations of Chapter 456 or 460, F.S. Such a report shall be made within thirty (30) days of the occurrence of any problems, or violations of Chapter 456 or 459, F.S.

(6) Restriction of the authorized scope of practice or license. Whether or not the action also involves placing Respondent on probation or monitoring, or imposing any penalty, the Board may impose restrictions on Respondent’s practice that include, but are not limited to the following:

(a) Requiring remedial education as a requirement of continued practice,

(b) Restricting the licensee from practicing in certain settings,

(c) Restricting the licensee to work in only certain settings or under designated conditions,

(d) Restrictions on Treating Female, Minor, and Vulnerable Person Patients. Should the Board determine there should be a restriction on treating female, minor, or vulnerable person patients, Respondent shall not examine or treat female, minor, or vulnerable person patients without a chaperone who is a health care practitioner licensed by the Florida Department of Health present in the room in any examination or treatment setting. The Respondent is required to maintain a log of each such patient contact, and the name of the chaperone present. The log shall be immediately available to a Department of Health inspector, monitor, Board Compliance Officer or the Board Chair upon request.

(e) Restricting the licensee from performing or providing designated clinical and administrative services,

(f) Restricting the licensee from practicing above a designated number of hours,

(g) Any other restriction found to be necessary for the protection of the public health, safety, and welfare and is reasonably related to the specific violation for which discipline is being imposed.

(7) Continuity of Practice.

(a) Tolling Provisions. In the event the Respondent leaves the State of Florida for a period of sixty (60) days or more or otherwise does not or may not engage in the active practice of chiropractic medicine in the State of Florida due to location out of the state, license suspension, incarceration or inability to safely practice due to PRN restrictions, then certain provisions of the requirements in the Board’s Order shall be tolled and shall remain in a tolled status until Respondent returns to the active practice of chiropractic medicine in the State of Florida. Respondent shall notify the Compliance Officer ten (10) days prior to his or her return to practice in the State of Florida. The following requirements shall be tolled until the Respondent returns to active practice:

1. The time period of probation shall be tolled.

2. The provisions regarding supervision, whether direct or indirect, by the monitor/supervisor and required reports from the monitor/supervisor shall be tolled.

3. The requirement for quality assurance review of Respondent’s practice shall be tolled.

(b) Active Practice. In the event that Respondent leaves the active practice of chiropractic medicine for a period of one year or more, the Respondent may be required to appear before the Board and demonstrate the ability to practice chiropractic medicine with reasonable skill and safety to patients prior to resuming the practice of chiropractic medicine in the State of Florida, which may include but not be limited to passage of the National Board of Chiropractic Examiners SPEC Examination, EBAS Examination, or additional CE coursework.

(8) Definitions of Probation / Supervision / Monitoring Terms. 

(a) Probation is any ongoing requirement relating to Respondent’s practice, including but not limited to, direct or indirect supervision, records review, remedial education, PRN compliance, or reporting.

(b) Monitoring is indirect supervision by a monitoring physician (monitor), as set forth in the Board’s Order. Monitoring does not require that the monitor practice on the same premises as the Respondent. However, the monitor shall practice within a reasonable geographic proximity to Respondent, which shall be within fifty (50) miles and shall be readily available for consultation. 

(c) Supervision is direct supervision by a supervising physician (supervisor), as set forth in the Order. Direct supervision requires that the supervisor and Respondent work in the same office.

(d) Immediate Supervision is supervision by a supervising physician (supervisor), as set forth in the Board’s order. Immediate Supervision requires that the supervisor be physically located in the same room when supervising the Respondent.
(e) Records Review is indirect supervision of the patient charts/logs/records of Respondent and Respondent’s practice by the monitor or Board’s compliance officer. The Board shall set forth the percentage of the records and type of records to be reviewed. The patient records shall be selected by the monitoring physician on a random basis at least once every month. In order to comply with this responsibility of random review, the monitoring physician shall go to Respondent’s office once every month unless a different time frame is set forth in the Board’s Order. At that time, the monitoring physician shall be responsible for making the random selection of the records to be reviewed by the monitoring physician.

(9) Probation.

(a) Probation Term. Unless otherwise specified within each individual offense guideline, or unless a lesser period of time is stated in the order imposing probation, the period of probation will be for a period of five (5) years,

(b) Probation Conditions. Probation conditions may include, but not be limited to, the following; and may be imposed regardless of whether the term “conditions” is referenced in an individual offense guideline:

1. Requiring the licensee to attend additional continuing education courses or remedial education;

2. Requiring the licensee to pass an examination on the content and requirements of Chapters 456 and 460, F.S., and Division 64B2, F.A.C.;

3. Requiring the licensee to work under the supervision of another licensee, including the submission of documents and reports from the supervisor and licensee;

4. Tolling of the running of the probationary period when the licensee ceases to practice in Florida, or fails to maintain compliance with the probation requirements;

5. Compliance with all terms of the order that imposes probation;

6. Evaluation by PRN and entering or maintaining compliance with a recommended impaired practitioners program contract;

7. Submitting to a continuing education audit for the next two consecutive biennial licensure renewal periods beginning with the date of the order imposing probation;

8. Corrective action related to the violation, including but not limited to the repayment of any fees billed and collected from a patient or third party on behalf of the patient.

9. Passage of the SPEC or EBAS Examinations conducted by the National Board of Chiropractic Examiners.

(10) Requirements for Monitors/Supervisors.

(a) If the terms of the Order include indirect supervision/monitoring of the licensee’s practice (monitoring) or direct monitoring of the licensee’s practice (supervision), the Respondent shall not practice chiropractic medicine without an approved monitor/supervisor, as specified by the Final Order.

(b) The monitor/supervisor must be licensed under Chapter 460, F.S., in good standing, in active status for a minimum of five (5) years, without restriction or limitation on his or her license, must be qualified by training and experience, and must not have any conflicts of interest that would prohibit him or her from impartially performing his or her duties as a monitor/supervisor. Specific grounds for rejecting a proposed monitor/supervisor by the Board or its designee shall include but are not limited to the following:

1. The proposed monitor/supervisor has previously been subject to disciplinary action against his/her license in this or any other jurisdiction,

2. The proposed monitor/supervisor is currently under investigation, or is the subject of a pending disciplinary action,

3. The proposed monitor/supervisor is not actively engaged in the practice of chiropractic medicine or the management of a chiropractic or related clinic/office,

4. The proposed monitor/supervisor is not practicing within a distance of no more than fifty (50) one hundred (100) miles from the Respondent’s practice location,

5. The proposed monitor/supervisor is a relative or employee of the Respondent.

(c) Temporary Approval. The Board confers authority on the Chair to temporarily approve Respondent’s monitor/supervisor. To obtain this temporary approval, Respondent shall submit to the Compliance Officer the name and curriculum vitae of the proposed monitor/supervisor, and letter from the proposed monitor/supervisor stating that he or she is willing to serve as a monitor/supervisor, that he or she has received a copy of the Administrative Complaint and Final Order, that he or she is aware of his or her duties and responsibilities as a monitor/supervisor, that he or she discloses any conflicts of interests, specifies distance to the Respondent’s practice location, and that he or she agrees to appear before the Board for formal approval at the next meeting of the Board. This information shall be furnished to the Chair by way of the Compliance Officer. Should Respondent’s monitoring/supervising physician be temporarily approved, said approval shall only remain in effect until the next meeting of the Board. Absent said approval, Respondent shall not practice chiropractic medicine until a monitoring/supervising physician is approved.

(d) Formal Approval. Unless waived by the Board, Respondent shall have the monitor/supervisor with him or her at the first probation appearance before the Board. Prior to consideration of the monitor/supervisor by the Board, the Respondent shall provide the monitor/supervisor a copy of the Administrative Complaint and the Board’s Order in this case. Respondent shall submit a current curriculum vitae, a description of current practice, and a letter agreeing to serve from the proposed monitor/supervisor to the Compliance Officer no later than twenty-one (21) days before the Respondent’s first scheduled probation appearance. Respondent’s monitor/supervisor shall also appear before the Board at such times as directed by the Board. It shall be the Respondent’s responsibility to ensure the appearance of his or her monitor/supervisor as directed. Failure of the monitor/supervisor to appear as directed shall constitute a violation of the terms of the Board’s Order and shall render the Respondent subject to additional disciplinary action.

(e) Change in Monitor/Supervisor. In the event that Respondent’s monitor/supervisor is unable or unwilling to fulfill his/her responsibilities as a monitor/supervisor as described above, the Respondent shall advise the Compliance Office of this fact within twenty-four (24) hours of becoming aware of the situation. Respondent shall submit to the Compliance Office the name of a temporary monitor/supervisor for consideration. Respondent shall not practice pending approval of this temporary monitor/supervisor by the Chair. Furthermore, Respondent shall make arrangements with his or her temporary monitor/supervisor to appear before the Board at its next regularly scheduled meeting for consideration of the monitor/supervisor. Respondent shall only practice under the supervision of the temporary monitor/supervisor (approved by the Chair) until the next regularly scheduled meeting of the Board where at the issue of the Respondent’s new monitor/supervisor shall be addressed.

(f) Appearances. The Respondent shall appear before the Board at the first Board meeting after probation commences, at the last meeting of the Board preceding scheduled termination of probation, and at such other times as requested by the Board, Board Chair, or Compliance Chair.

(g) Reports. If directed by Board Order, probation reports, in affidavit form, shall be submitted by the Respondent and shall contain the following:

1. Brief statement of why Respondent is on probation.

2. Practice location.

3. Describe current practice (type and composition).

4. Brief statement of compliance with probationary terms.

5. Describe relationship with monitoring/supervising physician.

6. Advise Compliance Officer of any problems including office incident reports filed; loss or restriction of hospital/clinic staff privileges; or any Medicare/Medicaid program exclusions, restrictions or limitations.

(h) Monitor/Supervisor Reports. If directed by Board Order, monitor/supervisor reports, in affidavit form, shall include the following:

1. Brief statement of why Respondent is on probation.

2. Description of probationer’s practice.

3. Brief statement of probationer’s compliance with terms of probation.

4. Brief description of probationer’s relationship with monitoring physician.

5. Detail any problems which may have arisen with probationer.

(i) Monitor/Supervisor Records Review. Should the Board determine that the Respondent’s records need to be reviewed, the Board shall set forth the percentage of the records and type of records to be reviewed by the monitoring/supervising physician. The patient records shall be selected by the supervising physician on a random basis at least once every month. A separate report shall be completed for each record reviewed.

(j) Investigative Reports. Respondent understands that during the period of probation, at a minimum, semi-annual investigative reports will be compiled with the Department of Health concerning compliance with the terms and conditions of probation and the rules and statutes regulating the practice of chiropractic medicine.

(k) For purposes of determining the dates when reports are due, the date the Final Order is filed shall constitute the beginning of the quarter.

1. All quarterly reports shall be provided to the Board office no later than three (3) months from the filing date of the Final Order.

2. All semiannual reports shall be provided to the Board office no later than six (6) months from the filing date of the Final Order.

3. All annual reports shall be provided to the Board office no later than twelve (12) months from the filing date of the Final Order.

(10) Appearances Required. Respondent shall appear before the Board at the first meeting after said probation commences and at the last meeting of the Board preceding termination of probation. Respondent shall be noticed by Board staff of the date, time and place of the Board’s meeting whereat Respondent’s appearance is required. Failure of the Respondent to appear as requested or directed shall be considered a violation of the terms of probation, and shall subject the Respondent to disciplinary action, including but not limited to extension of the term of probation, monitoring, or supervision.

(11) Costs of Compliance. Respondent shall pay all costs necessary to comply with the terms of the Board’s Order. Such costs include, but are not limited to, the costs of preparation of the investigative reports detailing compliance with the terms of the Order, the cost of analysis of any blood or urine specimens submitted pursuant to the Order, and administrative costs directly associated with Respondent’s probation. See Section 460.413(2), F.S.

(12) License Expiration. In the event that a Respondent’s license expires during the period that the license is suspended, this action shall not relieve the Respondent of the responsibility to renew the license at the end of each licensure period. If the Respondent fails to renew the license at the end of any licensure period, all normal conditions and consequences imposed by statute or rule of the Board for failure to timely and properly renew a license shall apply. Renewal of a suspended license during the period of suspension shall not affect the suspension of the license and the suspension shall continue until all requirements for reinstatement have been met.

(13) Return of License. Any Order which suspends a license, revokes a license, or accepts a Respondent’s offer to voluntarily relinquish his or her license shall require the Respondent to return the license to the Department within thirty (30) days from the date the Final Order is filed. This shall not apply to instances where the Board or a court has granted the Respondent a stay of the suspension.
Rulemaking Authority 460.405, 456.072(2), 456.079(1), 460.413(4) FS Law Implemented 456.072(2), 456.079(1), 460.413(2), (4) FS. History–New 11-16-21.

64B2-16.004 Time Limitation for Payment of Administrative Fine or Costs.

In cases where the Board of Chiropractic Medicine imposes an administrative fine and/or costs, the fine and/or costs shall be paid within thirty (30) days from the date the order of the Board is filed with the Clerk of the Department unless otherwise noted in the order.

Rulemaking Authority 456.072, 460.405 FS. Law Implemented 456.072 FS. History–New 11-25-80, Formerly 21D-16.04, 21D-16.004, 61F2-16.004, Amended 7-18-95, Formerly 59N-16.004, Amended 6-7-00.
64B2-16.005 False, Misleading and Deceptive Representations in the Practice.

Rulemaking Authority 460.405 FS. Law Implemented 456.072(1)(a), 460.413(1)(k) FS. History–New 4-13-82, Formerly 21D-16.05, 21D-16.005, 61F2-16.005, 59N-16.005, Repealed 11-10-14.
64B2-16.006 Criteria for the Selection of Consultants.

(1) In order to be eligible to act as a consultant for the Department an individual must meet the following criteria:

(a) He must have five years of current continuous practice as a licensed chiropractor with the last 3 years as a Florida licensed chiropractor;

(b) He must have the capacity to discuss with and enlist the cooperation of other chiropractors and physicians licensed pursuant to Chapters 458, 459, 461, and 462, F.S., attorneys, Department investigators, and state law enforcement officials dealing in chiropractic matters;

(c) He must not have had a chiropractic license or other health care license suspended, revoked, or otherwise disciplined, except that a disciplinary penalty of an administrative fine and/or probationary period only imposed more than 5 years prior to the licensees consideration as a consultant shall not disqualify him from consideration;

(d) He must not be currently under investigation by the Department or by any State or Federal Department.

(2) The Department will notify the Chairman of the Probable Cause Panel at the time it selects a consultant.

Rulemaking Authority 456.004(8), 460.405 FS. Law Implemented 456.004(8) FS. History–New 11-23-82, Formerly 21D-16.06, 21D-16.006, 61F2-16.006, 59N-16.006.

64B2-16.007 Notice by Licensees of Administrative Complaints or Disciplinary Actions.

(1) All licensees who are licensed or registered in the chiropractic profession in other states shall immediately notify the Board of any administrative complaints filed against them in the state of licensure or of any administrative disciplinary actions taken with respect to their license or registration in the state of licensure.
(2) No later than December 31, 2024, the Board shall review and consider amendment, modification, or repeal of this rule if review determines this rule creates barriers to entry for private business competition, is duplicative, outdated, obsolete, overly burdensome, or imposes excessive costs.
Rulemaking Authority 460.405 FS. Law Implemented 460.413(1)(b) FS. History–New 3-28-84, Formerly 21D-16.07, 21D-16.007, 61F2-16.007, 59N-16.007, Amended 12-3-20.

64B2-16.0075 Citations.

(1) “Citation” means an instrument which meets the requirements set forth in Section 456.077, F.S., and which is served upon a licensee, an applicant, a candidate trainee, or any other person within the jurisdiction of this Board, for the purpose of assessing a penalty in an amount established by this rule. All citations will include a requirement that the subject correct the violation, if remediable, within a specified period of time not to exceed sixty (60) days, and impose whatever obligations will remedy the offense.

(2) In lieu of the disciplinary procedures contained in Section 456.073, F.S., the Department is hereby authorized to dispose of any violation designated herein by issuing a citation to the subject within six months after the filing of the complaint which is the basis for the citation.

(3) The Board designates the following as citation violations, which shall result in a penalty of $500, except for the advertising violations listed in paragraph (e), below, if the citation is accepted by the licensee:

(a) Failure to notify the Department of change of address, Section 456.035, F.S.

(b) Failure to review and correct any factual inaccuracies in the practitioner profile within fifteen (15) days of when furnished based upon any information provided by the practitioner, Sections 456.041, 456.042, 456.072(1)(w), F.S.

(c) Failing to report to the Department any person whom the licensee knows is in violation of the laws and rules of the Department or Board, Sections 456.072(1)(x), 460.413(1)(g), F.S.

(d) Failing to provide, upon request of the insured, a copy of a claim submitted to any third-party payor for service of treatment of the insured, Section 460.413(1)(aa), F.S.

(e) Advertising. A violation of the following shall result in a penalty of $2,500, if the citation is accepted by the licensee:

1. Any discounted or free service without including the required statement, Section 456.062, F.S.

2. Failing to include in an advertisement for free x-rays and/or video fluoroscopy that x-rays or video fluoroscopy will be given only if medically necessary, paragraph 64B2-15.001(2)(b), F.A.C.

3. Failing to specifically name each individual chiropractor participating in a referral service or bureau when advertising a chiropractic referral service or bureau, paragraph 64B2-15.001(2)(b), F.A.C.

4. Failing to include a reference to the chiropractor by name and degree in any advertisement generated on behalf of the chiropractor, paragraph 64B2-15.001(2)(b), F.A.C.

5. Failing to conspicuously identify the chiropractor(s) listed in the advertisement as a chiropractor, paragraph 64B2-15.001(2)(f), F.A.C.

6. Disseminating an advertisement that contains a representation that identifies the chiropractic practice being advertised by a name that fails to include the terms “chiropractor,” “chiropractic,” “the initials, D.C.,” “chiropractic physician,” “doctor of chiropractic medicine,” or similar derivative, paragraph 64B2-15.001(2)(h), F.A.C.

7. Advertising that a chiropractor has received Diplomate status in a specialty area not recognized by the Board, paragraph 64B2-15.001(2)(i), F.A.C.

(f) Failing to maintain financial responsibility for a period of not more than thirty (30) days, Rule 64B2-17.009, F.A.C.

(g) Failing to identify the type of licensure under which the practitioner is practicing, Section 456.072(1)(t), F.S.

(4) Failure of chiropractic physicians to complete the required continuing education during the biennial license period; Section 456.072(3), F.S.

(a) Failure to complete less than twenty (20) hours shall result in a penalty of $2,500;

(b) Failure to complete twenty-one (21) or more hours will result in a penalty of $5,000.

(c) Failure to comply with Rule 64B2-13.007, F.A.C., shall result in a penalty of $1,000.

(5) Failure to comply with fingerprint retention in the Care Provider Background Screening Clearinghouse as required by Sections 456.0135(3) and (4), F.S., shall result in a penalty of $100 and proof of compliance.
(6) Failure to update information pursuant to Section 456.039(1), F.S., in writing within forty-five (45) days after the occurrence of an event or attainment of a status required to be reported; Section 456.039(3), F.S., shall result in a fine of $50 per day not in compliance, not to exceed $5,000.

(7) If the subject does not dispute the matter in the citation in writing within thirty (30) days after the citation is served by personal service or within thirty (30) days after receipt by certified mail, the citation shall become a final order of the Board. The subject has 30 days from the date the citation becomes a final order to pay the fine and costs. Failure to pay the fine and costs within the prescribed time period constitutes a violation of Section 460.413(1)(v), F.S., which will result in further disciplinary action. All fines and costs are to be made payable to “Department of Health – Citation.”

(8) Once the citation becomes a final order, the citation and complaint become a public record pursuant to Chapter 119, F.S., unless otherwise exempt from the provisions of Chapter 119, F.S.

(9) The Department shall report to the Board regarding the number of citations issued and the nature of the offenses for which they were issued.

Rulemaking Authority 456.039(3), 456.077, 460.405 FS. Law Implemented 456.035, 456.039(3), 456.072(3), 456.073 FS. History–New 1-19-92, Amended 4-26-93, Formerly 21D-16.0075, 61F2-16.0075, Amended 7-18-95, Formerly 59N-16.0075, Amended 2-11-99, 5-31-00, 10-7-02, 11-30-03, 11-1-04, 4-13-05, 11-9-06, 11-5-07, 3-18-20, 12-9-21.
64B2-16.008 Return of Certificates or Licenses.

Any certificate or license issued by the Department and subsequently suspended or revoked, other than for failure to pay biennial registration fee as required by Section 460.407, F.S., shall be promptly returned to the Department’s Administrative Offices.

Rulemaking Authority 460.405 FS. Law Implemented 460.413(2)(a), (b) FS. History–New 10-10-85, Formerly 21D-16.08, 21D-16.008, 61F2-16.008, 59N-16.008.

64B2-16.009 Unlicensed Chiropractic Practice.

(1) For the purposes of this rule only, the term “unlicensed chiropractic physician” means a chiropractic physician whose license has been suspended, relinquished or revoked by the State of Florida or any other state arising out of a disciplinary action.

(2) A licensed chiropractic physician shall not continue as, or form a partnership, corporation or any other business association for profit with an unlicensed chiropractic physician if any of the activities of the partnership, corporation, or business association consist of a chiropractic practice if:

(a) An unlicensed chiropractic physician owns any interest therein, or

(b) An unlicensed chiropractic physician is a corporate director or officer thereof, or

(c) An unlicensed chiropractic physician has the right to direct or control the professional judgment of the treating chiropractic physician.

(3) A licensed chiropractic physician shall not permit a person acting as an administrator or manager, or who otherwise employs, pays or recommends to the licensed chiropractic physician to render services to a patient, to direct or regulate the chiropractic physician’s professional judgment in rendering services.

Rulemaking Authority 460.405 FS. Law Implemented 460.413(1)(h) FS. History–New 4-19-89, Amended 1-28-90, Formerly 21D-16.009, 61F2-16.009, Amended 7-18-95, Formerly 59N-16.009.

64B2-16.010 Mediation.

(1) “Mediation” means a process whereby a mediator appointed by the department acts to encourage and facilitate resolution of a legally sufficient complaint. It is an informal and nonadversarial process with the objective of assisting the parties to reach a mutually acceptable agreement.

(2) The board finds that mediation is an acceptable method of dispute resolution for the following violations as they are economic in nature or can be remedied by the licensee:

(a) Failure of the licensee to timely pay any assessed administrative fines or costs, Section 460.413(1)(v), F.S.

(b) Failure of the licensee to timely respond to a continuing education audit, Section 460.413(1)(i), F.S.

(c) Failure to promptly return a license or certificate, Rule 64B2-16.009, F.A.C.

(d) Issuance of a bad check to the Department, Section 460.413(1)(i), F.S.

(e) Failure to notify the Department of a change of address within 45 days, Rule 64B2-10.0055, F.A.C.

Rulemaking Authority 456.078 FS. Law Implemented 456.078 FS. History–New 5-1-95, Formerly 59N-16.010, Amended 11-1-04.

64B2-16.011 Notice of Noncompliance.

In accordance with Sections 456.073 and 120.695, F.S., the Board shall issue a notice of noncompliance as a first response to a minor violation of a rule. Failure of a licensee to take action to correct the violation within 15 days shall result in either the issuance of a citation when appropriate or the initiation of regular disciplinary proceedings. The minor violations which shall result in a notice of noncompliance are:

(1) Failure to notify of a change of address within 30 days as required by Rule 64B2-10.0055, F.A.C.

(2) Issuance of a bad check to the Department, Section 460.413(1)(i), F.S.

Rulemaking Authority 120.695, 456.073(3), 460.405 FS. Law Implemented 120.695, 456.073(3) FS. History–New 11-1-04, Amended 3-18-10, 12-9-21.
